

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA
SOUTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

CHAMBERLAIN SCHOOL DISTRICT; JIM
ANDERSON, JAY BLUM, JERRI ANN HAAK,
ERIC MILLER, JOEL PAZOUR, ANNETTE
PRIEBE, and KEITH REUER, in their official
capacities as members of the Chamberlain School
Board,

Defendants.

Civil Action No. 4:20-cv-4084

COMPLAINT

The United States of America, plaintiff herein, alleges:

1. The Attorney General files this action pursuant to Section 2 and Section 12(d) of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. §§ 10301 and 10308(d).
2. Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act prohibits enforcement of any voting qualification, prerequisite to voting, standard, practice, or procedure that results in the denial or abridgment of the right to vote on account of race, color, or language minority status.
3. In this action, the United States challenges the at-large method of electing members of the school board of the Chamberlain School District because it violates Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This Court has original jurisdiction of this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 2201(a) and 52 U.S.C. § 10308(f).

5. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. §§ 122(2) and 1391(b).

PARTIES

6. The Voting Rights Act authorizes the Attorney General to file a civil action on behalf of the United States of America seeking injunctive, preventive, and permanent relief for violations of Section 2 of the Act. 52 U.S.C. § 10308(d).

7. The Chamberlain School District is a political and geographical subdivision of the State of South Dakota; it encompasses portions of Brule, Buffalo, and Lyman Counties.

8. Jim Anderson, Jay Blum, Jerri Ann Haak, Eric Miller, Joel Pazour, Annette Priebe, and Keith Reuer are the current members of the Chamberlain School Board, which is the governing body of the Chamberlain School District. S.D. Codified Laws §§ 13-8-1, 13-8-2; Chamberlain School District 07-1 Bd. Policies (“CSD Policy”) §§ BB, BBA. They are sued in their official capacities.

ALLEGATIONS

9. According to the 2010 Census, the Chamberlain School District had a total population of 6,044, of whom 3,763 (62.3%) were white, 2,138 (35.4%) were American Indian/Alaska Native, and 139 (2.3%) were members of other racial groups. The total voting-age population was 4,297, of whom 2,981 (69.4%) were white, 1,244 (29.0%) were American Indian/Alaska Native, and 71 (1.7%) were members of other racial groups.

10. The Chamberlain School Board is composed of seven members elected on an at-large basis in non-partisan contests by all voters in the Chamberlain School District. CSD Policy § BB.

11. Members of the Chamberlain School Board serve staggered, three-year terms. Every year, two or three seats on the Chamberlain School Board are open. CSD Policy §§ BB, BBB; *see also* S.D. Codified Laws § 13-8-2. No election is held if seats are uncontested. S.D. Codified Laws § 13-7-9.

12. South Dakota law does not mandate the current at-large method of electing the Chamberlain School Board. *See* S.D. Codified Laws § 13-8-7.1.

13. The American Indian population of the Chamberlain School District is sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority of the voting-age population in two single-member districts under an illustrative seven-district plan.

14. School board elections are marked by a pattern of racially polarized voting. The American Indian population in the Chamberlain School District is politically cohesive in those elections while the white population votes sufficiently as a bloc in those elections to usually defeat the preferred candidate of American Indian voters.

15. Since at least 2007, only one American Indian candidate has won an election for the Chamberlain School Board.

16. American Indian residents in South Dakota have historically suffered from official discrimination affecting the right to vote.

17. Significant socioeconomic disparities exist between white and American Indian residents of the Chamberlain School District in areas such as education and employment. Such

disparities hinder the current ability of American Indian citizens in the School District to participate effectively in the political process.

18. The Chamberlain School District's method of election is characterized by the use of practices and procedures that have the result of impairing American Indian electoral opportunities. These include, but are not limited to, at-large elections, staggered terms, and off-year elections.

19. The at-large method of electing the Chamberlain School Board dilutes the voting strength of American Indian citizens.

CAUSE OF ACTION

20. Under the totality of circumstances, the current at-large method of electing the Chamberlain School Board violates Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301, because it results in the Chamberlain School District's American Indian citizens having less opportunity than other members of the electorate to participate in the political process and to elect representatives of their choice.

21. Unless enjoined by order of this Court, Defendants will continue to violate Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act by administering, implementing, and conducting future elections for the Chamberlain School Board using an at-large method of election.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the United States prays that the Court enter an order:

- (1) Declaring that the at-large method of electing the Chamberlain School Board violates Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301;
- (2) Enjoining Defendants, their agents and successors in office, and all persons acting in concert with them from administering, implementing, or conducting any future

- elections for the Chamberlain School Board under the at-large method of election;
- (3) Ordering Defendants to devise and implement a method of election for the Chamberlain School Board that complies with Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act; and
- (4) Granting such additional relief as the interests of justice may require.

Date: May 27, 2020

RONALD A. PARSONS, JR.
United States Attorney
District of South Dakota



ALISON J. RAMSDELL
Assistant U.S. Attorney
Civil Rights Coordinator
325 S. First Avenue
Sioux Falls, SD 57104

ERIC S. DREIBAND
Assistant Attorney General
Civil Rights Division

ELLIOTT M. DAVIS
Special Counsel



T. CHRISTIAN HERREN, JR.
ROBERT S. BERMAN
MAURA EILEEN O'CONNOR
ELIZABETH M. RYAN
Attorneys, Voting Section
Civil Rights Division
U.S. Department of Justice
150 M Street NE/8.926
Washington, D.C. 20530
Eileen.O'Connor2@usdoj.gov
202-305-2526

CIVIL COVER SHEET

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS

United States of America

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number)

see attached

DEFENDANTS

Chamberlain School District, Jim Anderson, Jay Blum, Jerri Ann Haak, Eric Miller, Joel Pazour, Annette Priebe, and Keith Reuer, in their official capacities as members of the Chamberlain School Board

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED

Attorneys (If Known)

Rodney Freeman

Churchill, Manolis, Freeman, Kludt & Burns, LLP

333 Dakota Ave. S., 2nd Floor, P.O. Box 176, Huron, S.D. 57350

II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an "X" in One Box Only)

- 1 U S Government Plaintiff, 2 U S Government Defendant, 3 Federal Question (U.S. Government Not a Party), 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III)

III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintiff and One Box for Defendant)

Table with columns for Plaintiff (PTF) and Defendant (DEF) citizenship: Citizen of This State, Citizen of Another State, Citizen or Subject of a Foreign Country, Incorporated or Principal Place of Business In This State, Incorporated and Principal Place of Business In Another State, Foreign Nation.

IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an "X" in One Box Only)

Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.

Large table with categories: CONTRACT, REAL PROPERTY, CIVIL RIGHTS, TORTS, PRISONER PETITIONS, FORFEITURE/PENALTY, LABOR, IMMIGRATION, BANKRUPTCY, SOCIAL SECURITY, FEDERAL TAX SUITS, OTHER STATUTES.

V. ORIGIN (Place an "X" in One Box Only)

- 1 Original Proceeding, 2 Removed from State Court, 3 Remanded from Appellate Court, 4 Reinstated or Reopened, 5 Transferred from Another District (specify), 6 Multidistrict Litigation - Transfer, 8 Multidistrict Litigation - Direct File

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity): Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301

Brief description of cause: vote dilution under Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act

VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:

CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND \$ UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P.

CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint: JURY DEMAND: Yes No

VIII. RELATED CASE(S) IF ANY

(See instructions):

JUDGE

DOCKET NUMBER

DATE

05/27/2020

SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD

/s/ Maura Eileen O'Connor

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG JUDGE

Attachment to Civil Cover Sheet

Section I(c) – Attorneys for the United States of America

T. Christian Herren, Jr.

Robert S. Berman

Maura Eileen O'Connor

Elizabeth M. Ryan

U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division

150 M Street NE/8.926

Washington, D.C. 20530

Eileen.O'Connor2@usdoj.gov

202-305-2526

Alison J. Ramsdell

U.S. Department of Justice, United States Attorney's Office for the District of South Dakota

325 S. First Avenue

Sioux Falls, S.D. 57104

605-357-2338